IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC08-2036 THIRD DCA CASE NO.: 3D06-458

CUSTER MEDICAL CENTER, (a/a/o Maximo Masis),	
Petitioner,	
VS.	
UNITED AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,	
Respondent.	/
	NER'S INITIAL BRIEF rom the Third District Court of Appeal

MARLENE S. REISS, ESQ. Fla. Bar No. 864048 Counsel for Petitioner Custer Medical Two Datran Center, Suite 1612 9130 South Dadeland Boulevard Miami, Florida 33156 Telephone: (305) 670-8010

Facsimile: (305) 670-2305

Introduction
Statement of the Case and Facts
Issues on Appeal7
Summary of the Argument8
Argument10
I. The Court Has Jurisdiction to Review the Third District's Opinion, Based on Direct Conflict With This Court's Decisions in <i>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos</i> , 843 So.2d 885 (Fla. 2003); <i>U.S. Security Inc. Co. v. Cimino</i> , 754 So.2d 697 (Fla. 2000); and <i>Dorse v. Armstrong</i> World Indus., Inc., 513 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1987) II. The Physical Examination of an Insured, Obtained by an Insurer in an Action for Personal Injury Protection (PIP) Benefits Pursuant to Fla.Stats. §627.736(7), is Not a Condition Precedent to Coverage an Insured's Alleged "Unreasonable Refusal" to Attend Such a Physical Examination, Which Relieves the Insurer of Liability for Subsequent Benefits, Is an Affirmative Defense That Must Be Pled and Proven by the Defendant Insurer
Conclusion39
Certificate of Service and Certificate of Compliance

TABLE OF CITATIONS

Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos843 So.2d 885 (Fla. 2003)
BPS Guard Services, Inc. v. Gulf Power Co.488 So.2d 638 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986)Page -37-
Braid Sales and Marketing, Inc. v. R & L Carriers, Inc.838 So.2d 590 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2003)
Carguillo v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.529 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1988) Page -29-
Ceballo v. Citizens Prop. Ins. Corp.967 So2d 811, 813-14 (Fla. 2007) Page -46-
Chambers v. Chambers 102 So.2d 171 (Fla. 1958)
Combs v. State436 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1983)
Cullum v. Packo947 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1 st DCA 2006)
Custer Medical Center (a/a/o Maximo Masis) v. United Auto. Ins. Co.990 So.2d 633 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008)
De Ferrari v. Gov't Employees, Inc.613 So.2d 101 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) Page -38-
Diaz-Hernandez v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co.2009 WL 3273205 (Fla. 3d DCA, October 14, 2009)

Dorse v. Armstrong World Indus., Inc.513 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1987) Page -1-
Flores v. Allstate Ins. Co.819 So.2d 740 (Fla. 2002)
Goldman v. State Farm Gen. Ins. Co.660 So.2d 300 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1995) Page -8-
<i>Griffin v. Am. Gen. Life & Accident Ins. Co.</i> 752 So.2d 621, 623 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)
<i>Griffin v. Stonewall</i> 346 So.2d 97 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977)
Haines City Community Dev. v. Heggs658 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1995) Page -15-
Henderson Development Co., Inc. v. Gerrits340 So.2d 1205 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976)Page -23-
Hough v. Menses95 So.2d 410 (Fla. 1957)
<i>In re Estate of Boyar</i> 592 So.2d 341 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1992)
Ivey v. Allstate Ins. Co.774 So.2d 679 (Fla. 2000)
King ex rel. Murray v. Rojas767 So.2d 510, n.1 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2000) Page -37-
Kitchen v. Kitchen404 So.2d 203 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981)
Malu v. Security Natl. Ins. Co.898 So.2d 69 (Fla. 2005)

Pierson v. State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co.621 So.2d 576 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)Page -23-
Salas v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.272 So.2d 1, 5 (Fla. 1972)
Tindall, II v. Allstate Ins. Co.472 So.2d 1291 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985)
U.S. Security Inc. Co. v. Cimino754 So.2d 697 (Fla. 2000)
U.S. Security Ins. Co. v. Silva693 So.2d 593 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997)
United Auto. Ins. Co. v. Custer Medical Center (a/a/o Maximo Masis)990 So.2d 633 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008)
United Auto. Ins. Co. v. Zulma661 So.2d 947 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1995)
Universal Medical Center of So. Fla. v. Fortune Ins. Co. 761 So.2d 386 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000)
Vasques v. Mercury Cas. Co.947 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2007)
Wiggins v. Portmay Corp.430 So.2d 541, 542 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1983)Page -37-
OTHER AUTHORITIES:
Fla.Stats. §627.736

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, CUSTER MEDICAL CENTER (a/a/o Maximo Masis), seeks review of the Third District Court of Appeal's decision in *United Auto. Ins. Co. v. Custer Medical Center (a/a/o Maximo Masis)*, 990 So.2d 633 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008), review granted, 2009 WL 2931672 (Fla., August 31, 2009).

The Third District accepted second-tier certiorari review, quashing the circuit appellate court's decision, which reversed the trial court's entry of a directed verdict in favor of United Automobile Insurance Company. The directed verdict was entered on the erroneous premise that a physical examination of the insured, which is obtained by an insurer pursuant to Fla.Stats. §627.736(7), is a condition precedent to coverage, without regard to whether the insurer has proven that the insured "unreasonably refused" to attend an examination. The §627.736(7) examination is not condition precedent. Rather, it is a condition subsequent. Moreover, §627.736(7)(b) provides that an insurer may avoid liability for subsequent benefits if an insured "unreasonably refuses" to attend the requested examination. As such, §627.736(7)(b) provides an affirmative defense, which must be pled and proven by the insurer.

The Petitioner submits that the Third District's Opinion conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos*, 843 So.2d 885 (Fla. 2003);

U.S. Security Inc. Co. v. Cimino, 754 So.2d 697 (Fla. 2000); Dorse v. Armstrong World Indus., Inc., 513 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1987), and their progeny.

Petitioner Custer Medical Center is a medical provider, which was the valid assignee of a United Auto insured, Maximo Masis. Custer Medical and Mr. Masis are referred to herein by name.

The Respondent, United Automobile Insurance Company, was the defendant in the trial court, and is referred to herein by name.

Citations to the record on appeal appear herein as (R -), and refer to the original index issued by the Third District Court of Appeal. The transcript of the trial proceedings appear herein as (T -).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case has a rather tortured history. It began in 2002 as a claim for personal injury protection (PIP) benefits in county court, in which United Auto alleged an affirmative defense pursuant to Fla.Stats. §627.736(7), arguing that it was relieved of any obligation to pay any PIP benefits because the insured did not appear for two scheduled physical examinations.

The underlying facts are set forth in the circuit appellate court's opinion, dated February 14, 2006. (United's A-1 to Petition for Writ of Certiorari).

United's insured, Maximo Masis, was injured in a car accident on January 1, 2002. *Id*. Mr. Masis sought treatment from Custer Medical Center, which submitted medical bills to United Auto for payment of PIP benefits. *Id*.

On March 28, 2002, United received Custer's medical bills in the amount of \$4,250. *Id*.

One day earlier, on March 27, 2002, United sent Mr. Masis's

attorneys a letter scheduling an "Independent Medical Examination" (IME) for April 11, 2002. *Id.* Mr. Masis did not appear for the IME.

On April 12, 2002, United sent another letter, scheduling another IME for April 29, 2002. *Id.* Mr. Masis did not appear for the second IME.

United suspended Mr. Masis's PIP benefits as of April 11, 2002, on the basis that he "unreasonably refused" to attend his scheduled IME. *Id*.

Custer sued United. *Id.* Among its affirmative defenses,
United alleged that Mr. Masis failed to attend two scheduled
independent medical examinations. (United's A-25 to Petition for
Writ of Certiorari). The case proceeded to trial.

At trial, Masis's United policy was put into evidence without objection. (T 87). The policy stated, in pertinent part:

¹ On May 23, 2007, the record below was supplemented with the trial transcript, dated August 24, 2004, in response to the Third District's order, dated May 22, 2007.

A person seeking coverage must:

[S]ubmit to mental or physical examinations at "our" expense when and as often as "we" may reasonably require. A copy of the medical report shall be forwarded to such person if requested in writing. If the person *unreasonably* refuses to submit to an examination, "we" will not be liable for *subsequent* personal injury protection benefits.

(Policy at 14, ¶3)(emphasis added).²

Custer presented its case with the testimony of Mr. Masis's treating physician and Custer's records and billing custodian to prove that the treatment rendered to Mr. Masis was medically reasonable, related and necessary, and that the billed amounts were reasonable. (T 29-81,100-123). Custer also presented the testimony of United's litigation adjuster, who testified that United received Custer's bills on March 28, 2002. (T 93).

² On January 29, 2008, the trial exhibits were filed in the Third District in response to the court's order, dated January 28, 2008.

Immediately following the Plaintiff's case, United moved for directed verdict arguing that Masis's failure to appear for the April 12, 2002, IME was "unreasonable" as a matter of law. *Id.*³

After protracted argument, the trial court found as a matter of law that, "two failures to appear without objections to the notices that were sent constitute an unreasonable refusal to submit to the medical examination as requested," and granted a directed verdict in favor of United. (T 167-168). Thus, United obtained a directed verdict prior to putting on any evidence whatsoever to prove its affirmative defense.

Custer appealed to the circuit court, arguing that the directed verdict was premature, because the issue of whether an insured's failure to attend a physical examination is "unreasonable" is a factual question for the jury. (Custer's Initial Brief). Custer further argued that it was never Custer's burden to demonstrate the reasonableness of Mr. Masis's failure to appear, because United had alleged the

³ At trial, when United moved for directed verdict, Custer's counsel proffered factual questions relating, *inter alia*, to the IME notices sent by United, and the fact that the insurance policy itself says that United would not be responsible for "subsequent" benefits following an "unreasonable refusal" to attend an IME. Nonetheless, the trial court directed a verdict in United's favor. (T 148, 155, 157).

failure to appear as an affirmative defense and, thus, had the burden to prove its defense. (Custer's Initial Brief.) The circuit appellate court reversed, determining that the directed verdict was premature, because it was not the Plaintiff's burden to prove United's affirmative defense. (United's A 1-3 to Petition for Writ of Certiorari).

The circuit court reversed the directed verdict and remanded for a new trial determining, in pertinent part:

In this case, the trial judge failed to consider the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. There is no legal authority supporting United's position that failure to appear is "unreasonable" as a matter of law. United claimed the affirmative defense that the failure to appear was unreasonable. United therefore had the burden to show, by evidence, that the failure to attend the IME was unreasonable. Nor does the simple showing of failure to appear shift the burden of proof to the Plaintiff to prove why the insured failed to appear. There was no evidence in the Plaintiff's case as to why Mr. Masis failed to appear. Therefore, in the absence of evidence supporting the affirmative defense, the directed verdict is premature.

(United's A - 3 to Petition for Writ of Certiorari).

United sought second-tier certiorari review of the circuit court's decision.

(United's Petition for Writ of Certiorari).

As a basis for second-tier certiorari jurisdiction, United argued that the circuit

court's ruling departed from the essential requirements of law "since at the close of the Respondent's case the facts established that the failure to attend was unreasonable since the Respondent did not present any evidence to concerning [sic] the reason for the Insured's failure to attend the IME and thus the burden never shifted to the Insurer to prove that the refusal was unreasonable." (Petition for Writ of Certiorari at 6). As further basis for the Third District's second-tier certiorari jurisdiction, United alleged that the circuit court's decision caused a "material" injustice since it would require [United] to continue to litigate when it is not so required." (United's Petition at 10). "Additionally, the circuit court's decision established a erroneous [sic] rule of general application concerning the affirmative defense of failing to appear at an IME which is binding in PIP cases within the eleventh judicial circuit, but is also persuasive precedent in all other circuits. Therefore this decision results in a miscarriage of justice that warrants the exercise of this Court's certiorari jurisdiction." (United's Petition at 10).

The Third District accepted certiorari jurisdiction, issuing its original opinion on September 5, 2007. That opinion quashed the circuit court's decision based on *Griffin v. Stonewall*, 346 So.2d 97 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) in which the Third District "long ago held in identical circumstances that an insured's failure to comply with a condition precedent that he appear for an independent medical examination

LAW OFFICES OF MARLENE S. REISS, ESQ., P.A.

constituted grounds to enter judgment for the insurer," citing *Goldman v. State*Farm Gen. Ins. Co., 660 So.2d 300 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995).

In its Motion for Rehearing, Custer pointed out that the Third District relied on case law that was not applicable in this case. *Goldman v. State Farm Gen. Ins. Co.*, 660 So.2d 300 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), was a homeowner's case - - not a PIP case, and *Griffin v. Stonewall*, 346 So.2d 97 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) dealt with an earlier version of the PIP statute that did not include the "unreasonable refusal" language that is critical in this case.⁴

In a second corrected opinion denying Custer's Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Rehearing *En Banc*, the Third District stated:

Consistent with the communication that United sought to have with its insured before suit was filed, United's defense at trial was simply that Masis failed to satisfy a reasonably established condition precedent to payment of his medical bills.

A plain reading of this statute [Fla.Stats. §627.736(7)] makes clear that an insured's submission to an IME is a

⁴ The "unreasonably refuses to attend" language was not added until 1976 and would not have been applicable to a policy which pre-dated the amendment. Thus, under the pre-1976 statute applicable in *Griffin*, all that an insurer had to demonstrate was a mere failure to attend the IME, *not* that the insured "unreasonably refused" to attend. *See* §627.736(7)(b), Fla.Stats. (1976).

condition precedent to coverage. See Goldman v. State Farm Fire Gen. Ins. Co., 660 So.2d 300, 304 n.5 (Fla. The DCA 1995). ...

It is clear in this case that United's requests for Masis to present himself for an IME were not patently unreasonable. See Tindall, II v. Allstate Ins. Co., 472 So.2d 1291 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985).

.

Neither Masis nor his counsel responded to the requests at any time during the nearly two-month period during which United sought to schedule an IME of its insured. On these undisputed facts, the trial court correctly directed a verdict in favor of the insurer. See Griffin v. Am. Gen. Life & Accident Ins. Co., 752 So.2d 621, 623 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999).

Custer Medical, supra, at 635.

The Third District quashed the circuit court's opinion, directing the circuit court to reinstate the directed verdict. Custer's Motion for Rehearing En Banc was denied, with a lengthy dissent by one judge. See Custer Medical Center (a/a/o Maximo Masis) v. United Auto. Ins. Co., 990 So.2d 633 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008), rehearing denied, Ramirez, J. dissenting to denial of rehearing en banc.

Custer invoked this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, alleging conflict between the Third District's decision in this case and this Court's decisions in Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos, 843 So.2d 885 (Fla. 2003); U.S. Security Inc. Co. v. Cimino, 754 So.2d 697 (Fla. 2000); and Dorse v. Armstrong World Indus., Inc., 513 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1987).

On August 31, 2009, this Court issued its Order accepting jurisdiction.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN ALLSTATE INS. CO. v. KAKLAMANOS, 843 So.2d 885 (FLA. 2003); U.S. SECURITY INC. CO. v. CIMINO, 754 So.2d 697 (FLA. 2000); DORSE v. ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUS., INC., 513 So.2d 1265 (FLA. 1987) TO CONFER CONFLICT JURISDICTION ON THIS COURT.

II. THE PHYSICAL EXAMINATION OF AN INSURED OBTAINED BY AN INSURER IN AN ACTION FOR PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION (PIP) BENEFITS, PURSUANT TO FLA.STATS. §627.736(7), IS NOT A CONDITION PRECEDENT TO COVERAGE - - AN INSURED'S ALLEGED "UNREASONABLE REFUSAL" TO ATTEND SUCH A PHYSICAL EXAMINATION, WHICH RELIEVES THE INSURER OF LIABILITY FOR SUBSEQUENT BENEFITS, IS AN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE THAT MUST BE PLED AND PROVEN BY THE DEFENDANT INSURER.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case involves a provision of Florida's Personal Injury Protection (PIP) Statute, Fla.Stats. §627.736(7), which allows an insurer to request that an insured submit to a physical examination. The statute provides that "if a person unreasonably refuses to submit to an examination, the personal injury protection carrier is no longer liable for subsequent personal injury protection benefits." Fla.Stats. 627.736(7)(b).

On second-tier certiorari review, the Third District held that the obligation to attend such an examination is a condition precedent to coverage, and the insured's simple failure to attend relieves the insurer of *any* obligation to pay *any* medical bills incurred by the insured.

I. The Third District Did Not Have Second-Tier Certiorari Jurisdiction

The Third District did not have second-tier certiorari jurisdiction on the sole basis that it disagreed with the circuit appellate court's interpretation of the statute. *See Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos*, 843 So.2d 885 (Fla. 2003). The circuit court applied the correct law, i.e., Fla.Stats. §627.736(7) and this Court's decisions in *U.S. Security Inc. Co. v. Cimino*, 754 So.2d 697 (Fla. 2000) and *Dorse v. Armstrong World Indus., Inc.*, 513 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1987). In the absence of any departure from the essential requirements of law, the Third District did not have

jurisdiction to review and quash the circuit court's decision.

II. The Third District's Decision Ignores the Plain Language of Fla. Stats. \$627.736(7) and Conflicts With Decisions of This Court

On the merits, the Third District's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in *U.S. Security Inc. Co. v. Cimino*, 754 So.2d 697 (Fla. 2000) and *Dorse v. Armstrong World Indus., Inc.*, 513 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1987), and ignores the language of Fla.Stats. §627.736(7).

By holding that a simple failure to attend a physical examination pursuant to Fla.Stats. §627.736(7) is unreasonable as a matter of law, the Third District's decision conflicts with *U.S. Security Inc. Co. v. Cimino*, 754 So.2d 697 (Fla. 2000) in which this Court held that "there are scenarios where the insured 'reasonably refuses to submit' to the examination." 754 So.2d at 702. Until the Third District's decision in this case, there was no case holding that a simple failure to attend two scheduled medical examinations entitled an insurer to deny PIP benefits as a matter of law. Nor was there any case law holding that a physical examination pursuant to §627.736(7) is a condition precedent to coverage or a condition precedent to filing suit.

By holding that an insured's obligation to attend a §627.736(7)(a) physical

examination is a "condition precedent" to coverage, the Third District has added a requirement that does not appear in the statute, and has ignored the language of \$627.736(7)(b), which provides an avoidance of liability for the insurer, i.e., an affirmative defense that must be proven by the insurer.

The decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Dorse v. Armstrong*World Indus., Inc., 513 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1987), in which the Court held that a

defense by which one of the defendants sought to avoid liability in a products

liability action had to be proven by that defendant. 513 So.2d at 1269. The Third

District has shifted the burden of proving an insured's "unreasonable refusal" to

attend a physical examination to the insured.

The Third District's decision has far-reaching implications to the extent that PIP insurance is mandatory coverage that every Florida citizen who owns an operable vehicle must purchase. The statute requires all claimants to submit to a physical examination when requested by the insurer, but not as a condition precedent to either coverage or access to the courts.

The Court should find that conflict jurisdiction exists and should quash the Third District's decision on the bases that: (1) no second-tier certiorari existed below; (2) a §627.736(7) examination is not a condition precedent; and, (3) an insurer has the burden of proving its affirmative defenses that an insured has

"unreasonably refused" to attend an examination.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION
CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS
IN ALLSTATE INS. CO. v. KAKLAMANOS, 843
So.2d 885 (FLA. 2003); U.S. SECURITY INC. CO. v.
CIMINO, 754 So.2d 697 (FLA. 2000); DORSE v.
ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUS., INC., 513 So.2d
1265 (FLA. 1987) TO CONFER CONFLICT
JURISDICTION ON THIS COURT.

a. The Opinion Conflicts With This Court's Decision in *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos*, 843 So.2d 885 (Fla. 2003)

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