IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-2036

THIRD DISTRICT CASE NO. 3D06-458

CUSTER MEDICAL CENTER, A/A/O MAXIMO MASIS,

Petitioner,

VS.

UNITED AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, A Florida corporation,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND, ESQUIRE The Office of the General Counsel United Automobile Insurance Company Trial Division P.O. Box 140490 Miami, Florida 33114-9986 Phone: (305) 774-6160

Fla. Bar No. 239437

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

In Amador, United Auto scheduled an examination under oath and when Amador failed to attend, United Auto denied coverage based on Amador's failure to preform the condition precedent of attending the examination. The Third District held that the examination under oath is a condition precedent to coverage only when the examination under oath is scheduled within 30 days after the insurer receives the bill. When an examination under oath is scheduled more that 30 days after receipt of the bill, the Court held that United Auto was in breach of the contract and Amador was no longer required to perform the condition precedent to secure coverage. The eleventh circuit appellate court has held the *Amador* applies to each set of bills and when it its untimely as to the first set of bills but timely as to the second set of bills, the insured is required to attend the examination under oath in order for the second set of bills to be covered. United Automobile Ins. Co. v. South Miami Health Center, 12 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 853b (Fla. 11th Cir. App. Ct. June 14, 2005); United Automobile Ins. Co. v. Millennium Diagnostic Imaging Center, Inc, 12 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 437a (Fla. 11th Cir. App. Ct. Feb. 17, 2005).

Thus, the statutory requirement that the attendance at an independent medical examination is a condition precedent to coverage of only to those bills that have been

received but are not overdue is in accordance with the special nature, and protection afforded by, the PIP statute. Therefore, Custer's contrary position should be rejected.

Next Custer contends that even if the PIP statute independent medical examination requirement is a condition precedent, United Auto's policy does not treat it as such since the policy condition that the Third District relies on states:

No action shall lie against "us"; unless, as a condition precedent thereto, there shall have been full compliance with all the terms of this insurance Policy...

(R. 426). Custer argues that since this condition prevents an action for PIP benefits if the independent medical examination condition precedent requirement is not fulfilled, it is not a condition precedent to coverage. Although the condition states that it is a condition precedent to maintaining an action and it does not explicitly state that it is a condition precedent to coverage, it could not mean anything else. This is a distinction without a difference since if Custer cannot maintain an action, how can Custer obtain coverage.

As United Auto just established, the well settled law is that under § 627.736(7), Florida Statutes, an insured's submission to an independent medical examination is a condition precedent to continue to obtain personal injury protection benefits. As a condition precedent, it was United Auto's option to deny the performance of the condition precedent with specificity and particularity. Fla.R.Civ.P. Rule 1.120(c). This

would have required Custer to establish as part of its case in chief that Masis attended the independent medical examination or that Masis did not attend but had a reasonable reason for not attending.

Instead United Auto generally denied that Custer performed all condition precedents and raised the affirmative defense that Masis breached the contract and violated the PIP statute by failing to abide by the condition precedent of attending an independent medical examination. By pleading the breach of a condition precedent as an affirmative defense, United Auto assumed the burden of proving its affirmative defense. *W.J. Kiely & Co. v. Bituminous Casualty Corp.*, 145 So.2d 762, 763 (Fla. 3d DCA 1962).

This is the crux of the case and that is what United Auto has to prove to establish the affirmative defense of Masis' failure to attend the independent medical examination without explanation. United Auto submits that the affirmative defense of unreasonable failure to attend an independent medical examination is established by proving notice and the failure to attend without explanation. *Universal Medical Center of South Florida v. Fortune Insurance Company*, 761 So.2d 386, 387 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000). In order for Custer to rebut that Masis reasonably refused to submit to the independent medical examination would have had to file a reply. A reply to an affirmative defense is necessary to avoid an affirmative defense. *Moore Meats, Inc. v. Strawn*, 313 So.2d 660

(Fla. 1975). A reply is required only when "new matter" is sought to be asserted to avoid the affirmative defense. Kitchen v. Kitchen, 404 So.2d 203, 205 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). When United Auto plead the failure to submit to the independent medical examination as an affirmative defense, it was incumbent on Custer to file a reply alleging facts establishing that the refusal was reasonable. American Salvage and Jobbing Co., Inc. v. Salomon, 295 So.2d 710, 712 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974)(an affirmative defense which asserts the failure to comply with policy provisions is an affirmative defense which may require an avoidance by reply). An issue that could have been, but was not asserted in a reply is not an issue properly before the court. Tax v. Keiser, 328 So.2d 517 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). Thus, Custer's failure to plead facts which established that Masis reasonably refused to submit to the independent medical examination in avoidance of the United Auto's failure to attend without explanation affirmative defense precludes Custer from relying on a reasonable reason to defeat the defense. Florida First National Bank v. Martin, 449 So.2d 861 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

In Universal Medical Center of South Florida v. Fortune Insurance Company, 761 So.2d 386, 387 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000, Universal as the assignee of Fortune's insured, sought payment from fortune for PIP benefits. Fortune refused to pay asserting that the insured breached the policy by unreasonably refusing to submit to an independent medical examination. At trial the evidence established that insured's counsel request that Fortune cancel the independent medical examination because the insured had finished treatment. Fortune did not respond to thereto until the date of the examination, and insured's counsel did not receive timely notification of the insurer's refusal to cancel timely. The Third District held that there was no evidence of a unreasonable refusal to submit to an examination. Rather the evidence established that the insured sought to cancel the examination and the insurer failed to respond and this was not an unreasonable refusal to submit to the examination. The Third District rejected the cases Fortune relied on since in those cases the insured either expressly refused to attend or failed to attend without explanation. The Court found that its prior decisions in U.S. Security Ins. Co. v. Silva, 693 So.2d 593, 596 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) and Griffen v. Stonewall Ins. Co., 367 So.2d 97 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) stood for the proposition that a failure to attend an independent medical examination without explanation was an unreasonable refusal and relieved the insurer from paying PIP benefits.

In *Griffin*, the insured, on two separate occasions, refused to be attend an IME. The insured did not provide a reason for such refusal at the time, nor was any reasonable excuse advanced before the trial court. The Third District held that the insured's refusal was unreasonable since he did not provide any explanation at the time of the refusal nor did he offer any reasonable excuse at before the trial court.

In Silva, after initially rescheduling and independent medical examination, U.S. Security again sent letters to Silva and her attorney rescheduling her appointment for the independent medical examination for September 2, 1993. Both letters contained the following language: "Failure to attend this examination could jeopardize your client's eligibility for future benefits in accordance with Florida Statute 627.736 Section 7(b)." Silva did not appear for the September 2 examination. On September 9 and 10, U.S. Security sent letters to Silva and her attorney requesting that Silva attend an independent medical examination on September 24, 1993. The letters further stated, "Since your client failed to attend the previous scheduled examination, we have made another appointment for him/her. Please be advised that his/her failure to attend this examination will cause his/her benefits to be suspended as of 9/2/93, the date of the prior appointment." Silva did not appear for the September 24 examination. Shortly thereafter, U.S. Security notified Silva, through counsel, that it was cutting off benefits effective September 2, 1993. It was undisputed that Silva did not give any notice of unavailability to attend the September 2 or September 24 appointments and that she offered no excuse for her failure to attend. In sworn interrogatories she subsequently explained that she had been discharged from further medical treatment as of August 27 and that she would not be claiming payment for any medical services rendered after September 2. Under these facts the Third District held that Silva's refusal to submit to the independent medical examination without explanation was unreasonable within the meaning of § 627.736(7).

The Third District's decisions in *Griffen* and *Silva* is in accordance with this Court's decision in *U.S. Security Ins. Co. v. Cimino*, 754 So.2d 697 (Fla. 2000). In *Cimino*, U.S. Security, in accordance with § 627.736(7), scheduled Cimino for an independent medical examination. Cimino attended with his attorney but the physician refused to perform the examination. U.S. Security rescheduled the examination but warned Cimino that her attorney would not be allowed to attend and warned her that the failure to submit to the examination would result in termination of her benefits. This Court in permitting Cimino to condition the independent medical examination upon presence of counsel, held that using the term "unreasonably refuses to submit" the statute envisions scenarios where the insured "reasonably refuses to submit" to the examination and only after the insured provides a reasonable reason does the burden shift to the insurer to establish that the failure to appear was unreasonable. *Id.* at 702.

Since *Cimino* holds that there are scenarios where the insured reasonably refuses to submit, this Court has placed the burden on the insured to establish that the reason behind the failure to submit to the examination was reasonable. It is only after an insured presents evidence that his refusal was reasonable does the burden shift to the insurer to establish that the reason was unreasonable.

This is exactly what the Third District held herein. The Third District found that during Custer's case on whether the bills were reasonable related or necessary Custer established United Auto sent a certified letter to Masis' counsel posted on March 27, 2002, notifying him that United Auto had scheduled an IME for his client on April 11. A copy of the letter also was mailed to Masis. Masis did not appear. On April 12, 2002, United Auto scheduled a second IME for April 29, 2002, employing the same methods of notification. Again, Masis failed to appear. Neither Masis nor his counsel communicated with United Auto in response to the notices. After three weeks had passed from the scheduled date for the second IME, United Auto wrote to Masis' counsel, advising it was denying personal injury protection benefits to Masis as of April 11, 2002, for Masis' failure to appear. On June 20, 2002, Masis' counsel sent United Auto a letter announcing his withdrawal of his representation of Masis. On September 9, 2002, United Auto corresponded further with Masis - again employing certified mail - and reiterated that it was declining to afford him personal injury protection benefits coverage because of his failure to attend the scheduled IMEs, "which [are] a condition precedent to any legal action." Again, there was no response from Masis. Thereafter, Custer, as Masis' assignee, sued United Auto for \$1250 in excess of the deductible for services rendered by it. Consistent with the communication that United Auto sought to have with its insured before suit was filed, United Auto's defense at trial was simply that Masis failed to satisfy a reasonably established condition precedent to payment of his medical bills.

The Third District then found that United Auto proved its defense since it established that Masis was notified of the independent medical examination, that Masis claim would be denied if he failed to submit, and that Masis failed to attend without explanation. The Third District then held that the trial court correctly granted the directed verdict on United Auto's affirmative defense and quashed the circuit court's contrary decision. The fact that the directed verdict was done at the close of Custer's case and not at the close of United Auto's case does not change the result. Here Custer during its case in chief established that Masis received notice of and failed to attend the independent medical examination. Custer did not present any evidence of Masis reason for not attending. Since all of the evidence on United Auto's affirmative defense was before the trial court at the close of Custer's case, the directed verdict on United Auto's affirmative defense was proper at that time.

The Third District herein correctly found that the circuit court departed from the essential requirements of law since the correct law is that the elements of the affirmative defense of unreasonable failure to submit to an independent medical examination are notice and failure to appear. The burden is then on an insured established that his refusal to submit was reasonable. When an insured presents no evidence as his failure to submit then the insurer has proved his affirmative defense that the failure to attend the examination was unreasonable and the insurer is entitled to a judgment in its favor on its affirmative defense.

When an insured fails to attend an independent medical examination without explanation, it would make no sense whatsoever to place the burden on the insurer to establish that the reason was unreasonable. Once the insurer notifies the insured that benefits were being terminated for the insured's failure to attend the examination, the insurer assumes an adverse relationship with its insured. If the insurer is successful in determining that the reason for the failure to attend was unreasonable, the insurer is no longer responsible for the bills. However, the insured remains liable for the bills. Under Custer's contention, as long as the insured remains silent, the refusal to attend will be deemed reasonable and the insurer would be responsible for PIP benefits. Clearly this scenario runs counter to intent behind the independent medical examination requirement which is to provide the insurer with an opportunity to evaluate whether

benefits should be paid. *Tindall v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 472 So.2d 1291, 1293 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985).

Since Custer failed to present any evidence concerning the reason for Masis' failure to attend the independent medical examination, Custer was not entitled to have the case go to the jury so it could argue hypothetical reasons why Masis failed to appeal. Although attorneys are given broad latitude in closing arguments, remarks must be confined to the evidence and to issues and inferences that can be drawn from the evidence. *SDG Dadeland Associates. Inc. v. Anthony*, 979 So.2d 997, 1002 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008). Inasmuch as Masis stop treating before he was discharged, Custer could not argue to the jury that the reasonable reason Masis did not attend the independent medical examination was because he was discharged from treatment. In fact the evidence is contrary thereto, since Dr. Inchauski testified that without reevaluating Masis he could not determine when Masis would have reached medical maximum improvement.

In order to avoid affirmance, Custer contends that even if United Auto proved its affirmative defense by establishing the failure to appear without explanation, Custer is still entitled to relief since United Auto received the bills on March 26, 2002 and the failure to appear occurred on April 12, 2002. Therefore Custer continues that under *U.S. Security Ins. Co. v. Silva*, 693 So.2d 593, 596 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) the failure to

attend the independent medical exam did not relieve United Auto from paying PIP benefits since all the bills were received before the date of the examination.

This issue was raised by Custer during the hearing on the motion for directed verdict. However Custer neither raised this issue in its appeal to the circuit court, nor was it raised in its response in the Third District. As such it was waived. *Roth v. Cohen*, 941 So.2d 496, 500 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006).

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